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OPINION AND ORDER

BY THE COMMISSION:

		Before the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) for consideration and disposition is a proposed Settlement Agreement (Settlement) filed on December 2, 2013, by the Commission’s Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (I&E) and ResCom Energy LLC (ResCom or Company) (collectively, the Parties), with respect to Informal Investigations conducted by I&E.  Both Parties submitted a Statement in Support of the Settlement Agreement.  I&E submits that the proposed Settlement is in the public interest and is consistent with the Commission’s Policy Statement at 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201, Factors and standards for evaluating litigated and settled proceedings involving violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission regulations—statement of policy.  I&E Statement in Support at 10-14.  We will direct the Parties to file  supplemental statements in support, consistent with this Opinion and Order.

History of the Proceeding

		This matter concerns two informal investigations initiated by I&E at the request of the Commission’s Bureau of Consumer Services (BCS).  By letter dated September 17, 2012, I&E instituted an investigation of ResCom regarding allegations of slamming[footnoteRef:1] and related unauthorized marketing practices received in 2012 from multiple sources, including consumer complaints filed with BCS, reports from electric distribution companies (EDCs), other electric generation suppliers (EGSs), and other direct consumer contacts with Commission Staff.  Settlement at 3.   [1:  	Slamming is an unauthorized change to a customer’s supply service.  EDC Customer Account Number Access Mechanism for EGSs, Docket No. M-2013-2355751 (Order entered April 18, 2013).] 


		On July 25, 2013, I&E instituted a second informal investigation of ResCom pertaining to alleged marketing violations by the Company’s third party agent.  Based on its investigations, I&E found what it considered to be numerous violations of the Commission’s Regulations and the Telemarketer Registration Act, 73 P.S. §§ 2241 et seq. Settlement at 7-9.

		The Parties entered into negotiations and agreed to resolve these matters in accordance with the Commission’s policy to promote settlements at 52 Pa. Code § 5.231.  For purposes of this Settlement, I&E’s investigations have been consolidated.  Settlement at 3.  The Parties filed the instant Settlement on December 2, 2013.  

Background
		
		In July 2012, BCS began receiving complaints regarding an entity or entities calling consumers for the purpose of making EGS sales calls but failing to identify themselves.  Settlement at 4.  Multiple EDCs reported similar allegations to the Commission’s Office of Competitive Market Oversight indicating that customers were being called by entities falsely representing that they were associated with the EDC.  The EDCs making the allegations reported that they became concerned with ResCom due to its high rescission rate in their respective service areas and by customer calls specifically identifying “ResCom/Positive Energy” as the source of the problematic sales calls.  Id.[footnoteRef:2] [2:  	Positive Energy Electricity Supply LLC (Positive Energy) is ResCom’s exclusive marketing partner responsible for enrolling customers for ResCom.  ResCom Statement in Support of Settlement at 2.] 


		On July 9 and 10, 2012, ResCom received non-Commission complaints regarding calls made with Caller ID numbers that were not recognized by ResCom.  According to the Settlement, ResCom initiated an investigation and contacted its third party vendor call centers.  Settlement at 4.  Also on July 10, 2012, Energy Cooperative Association of Pennsylvania (ECAP), an EGS, notified the Commission that its call center received customer reports of being contacted by a supplier claiming to be associated with ECAP or PECO, an EDC.  According to the Settlement, some ECAP customers specifically identified “ResCom/Positive Energy” as the source of the problem calls.  Id. at 5.  

		On July 12, 2012, ResCom received an additional complaint regarding a possible “Do Not Call” violation.  After an internal investigation, ResCom determined that one of its third party vendors, Energy Group Sales, was indirectly responsible for the problematic calls.[footnoteRef:3]  On July 19, 2012, ResCom terminated its contract with Energy Group Sales.  Settlement at 5.   [3:  	During its internal investigation, ResCom discovered that Energy Group Sales, without ResCom’s knowledge, made sales calls on behalf of ResCom via subcontracted call centers which were neither authorized nor trained by ResCom.  Settlement at 5.  ] 


		Thereafter, BCS requested that I&E initiate an investigation into ResCom’s marketing practices in Pennsylvania.  By letter dated September 17, 2012, I&E notified ResCom that an informal investigation had been instituted.  Settlement at 5-6.[footnoteRef:4]   [4:  	BCS received additional complaints through April 2013 regarding the marketing practices of ResCom’s marketers for its EGS services in Pennsylvania.  Settlement at 5.] 


		On April 12, 2013, an individual, who identified himself as a former sales agent at “Consumer Energy Partners” call center, contacted BCS.  The individual stated that ResCom contracted with the call center to provide calls to Pennsylvania consumers in the PPL and PECO residential markets.  He claimed that call center agents, acting on behalf of ResCom, called consumers whose telephone numbers were obtained from telephone directories which were not screened to omit consumer telephone numbers on “Do Not Call” lists.  Settlement at 6.  Upon request by BCS, I&E, by letter dated July 25, 2013, initiated an informal investigation of ResCom’s marketing practices regarding its third party agent, Consumer Energy Partners.  

		Pursuant to letters dated July 3, 2013, and August 22, 2013, I&E notified ResCom that its informal investigations revealed sufficient data to substantiate allegations of violations of the Public Utility Code (Code), 66 Pa. C.S. §§ 101 et seq., the Telemarketer Registration Act, supra, and the Commission’s Regulations.  Settlement at 7.[footnoteRef:5]  [5:  	Specifically, I&E’s investigation pertaining to the first informal investigation found fourteen BCS customer complaints comprising forty-nine potential regulatory violations.  I&E Statement in Support of Settlement at 3.  I&E’s investigation regarding the second informal investigation pertaining to Consumer Energy Partners did not quantify the number of potential violations.  However, I&E determined there was sufficient evidence to file a formal complaint.  Id.] 


	I&E was prepared to allege in a formal complaint that ResCom or its agents failed to comply with the Commission’s Standards for Changing a Customer’s Electricity Generation Supplier, 52 Pa. Code §§ 57.171 et seq..  According to I&E, the Company neglected to obtain direct oral or written confirmations to change the EGS on multiple consumer accounts, resulting in the physical switching of the EGS accounts without proper authorization or verification in violation of 52 Pa. Code § 57.173.  Second, I&E would have alleged that the Company or its agents failed to comply with the Electricity Generation Customer Choice and Competition Act,  66 Pa. C.S. §§ 2801 et seq.,  by engaging in fraudulent, deceptive or otherwise unlawful acts in the process of marketing EGS services to Pennsylvania consumers in violation of 52 Pa. Code § 54.43(f).  Third, I&E would have averred that ResCom or its agents violated the “Do Not Call” provision of the Telemarketer Registration Act, supra, by engaging in marketing efforts on multiple consumer accounts resulting in telephone calls to consumers listed on a state or federal “Do Not Call” list.  Lastly, I&E would have alleged that the Company violated the Code of Conduct at 52 Pa. Code § 54.43, which makes an EGS responsible for the fraudulent, deceptive or unlawful marketing acts of a licensee, employee or agent.  

		As a result of negotiations between I&E and ResCom, the Parties have agreed to resolve their differences and urge the Commission to approve the Settlement as being in the public interest.  Settlement at 4.  

The proposed Settlement has been filed by the Parties in order to resolve allegations of slamming and related unauthorized marketing practices.  Settlement at 3.  As discussed above, I&E would have filed a formal complaint alleging multiple violations of Regulations 54.42 and 57.173, 52 Pa. Code §§ 54.43, 57.173, and Section 2245.2 of the Telemarketer Registration Act, 73 P.S. § 2245.2.  

Although ResCom disputes some or all of I&E’s allegations, the Company acknowledges the seriousness of slamming and related unauthorized EGS marketing practices and recognizes the need to prevent the reoccurrence of similar situations.  Settlement at 10.  In the Settlement, I&E credits ResCom with fully cooperating and complying with I&E’s investigation and requests for documentation.  Id. at 9-10.  

Terms of the Settlement[footnoteRef:6] [6: 	 	The terms are set forth in greater detail in the Settlement at 11-17.] 


		Pursuant to the proposed Settlement, ResCom will pay a civil penalty of $59,000, of which no portion shall be recovered from Pennsylvania consumers by any future proceeding, device or manner whatsoever.[footnoteRef:7]  Settlement at 11.  [7:  	Preliminarily, we note that the Parties initially describe the proposed payment as a “civil settlement.”  Settlement at 11.  However, the Parties also stipulate that ResCom shall not seek a tax deduction in the amount of the “civil sanction” pursuant to Section 162(f) of the Internal Revenue Code.  Id.  Section 162(f) of the Internal Revenue Code provides that no business or trade expense deduction shall be allowed for any fine or similar penalty paid to a government for the violation of any law.  26 U.S.C. 
§ 162(f).  For ease of reference, and consistency with the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 3301, we shall describe the payment herein as a civil penalty.  ] 


		The Company also acknowledges that it has revised its operating procedures as safeguards against future unauthorized EGS marketing practices of ResCom’s employees or agents.  Specifically, ResCom notes it has implemented the following:  (1) Better ResCom Identification and Script Improvements – the Company created new marketing materials, enrollment forms, t-shirts and scripts to clarify the identity of the caller, the purpose of the call, and that ResCom is not affiliated with the local EDC; (2) Caller IDs and Extended Customer Service Hours – ResCom added over 100 phone numbers to the call centers to be used on their caller IDs and ensured that return calls to these numbers will ring directly to the Company’s customer service center which is staffed until 9 p.m. on weekdays; (3) Do Not Call lists – ResCom began distributing weekly Pennsylvania, federal and internal Do Not Call lists to its contracted call centers, requiring the centers to scrub all their lists against ResCom’s lists prior to using them; (4) Additional Training Resources – ResCom hired a full time field trainer/inspector to train third party marketers, requires the trainer/inspector to personally certify each field agent selling face-to-face on the Company’s behalf, and increased the shadowing requirement for new field agents from seven to fourteen days; (5) Phone Line Upgrade – ResCom transitioned to a new phone carrier to alleviate outages and dropped calls.  Settlement 12-13.

		ResCom further agrees to provide BCS Staff with written notice of any changes to its practices and procedures related to marketing to Pennsylvania consumers for EGS products and services.  This requirement will remain in effect for one year following the entry of the Commission’s final order and may be extended at the discretion of BCS Staff.  Id. at 13.

		Also for one year following entry of the final order, ResCom will provide quarterly reports detailing:  (1) the number of customer complaints received by the Company and categorizing them as residential or commercial; and (2) the monthly complaint rate, which is the number of monthly complaints divided by the number of consumers switching EGS services to the Company for the month.  BCS staff will have the discretion to extend this reporting requirement beyond the initial one-year effective date.  Id. 
		In its fourth quarterly report, ResCom agrees to provide information describing compliance with the Code, Commission Orders and Regulations and the conditions set forth in the Settlement.  Moreover, the fourth quarterly report will include updated information regarding lawsuits, investigations, and state commission proceedings involving affiliates of ResCom in other jurisdictions.  After receiving the fourth quarterly report, the Commission’s Bureau of Technical Utility Services (TUS), with the assistance of BCS and the Commission’s Law Bureau, shall prepare a Staff recommendation regarding any appropriate licensing conditions for the Company.  Id. at 13-14.  

		In response, I&E agrees to forbear from initiating a formal complaint relative to the allegations that are the subject of the proposed Settlement.  The proposed Settlement will not, however, affect the Commission’s authority to receive and resolve any formal or informal complaints filed by any affected party, except that no further penalties beyond the agreed civil penalty may be imposed by the Commission for any actions identified in the Settlement.  Id. at 14-15.  

		The proposed Settlement is conditioned on the Commission’s approval without modification of any of its terms or conditions.  If the Commission does not approve the proposed Settlement, or makes any change or modification to the proposed Settlement, either Party may elect to withdraw from the Settlement.  Id. at 17.

Discussion

		Pursuant to our Regulations at 52 Pa. Code § 5.231, it is the Commission’s policy to promote settlements.  The Commission must, however, review proposed settlements to determine whether the terms are in the public interest.  Pa. PUC v. Philadelphia Gas Works, Docket No. M-00031768 (Order entered January 7, 2004).  It is expected that a petition seeking approval of a proposed settlement will provide the Commission with sufficient information upon which to make that determination.  Pa. PUC v. ATX Licensing, Inc., Docket No. C-20031394 (Order entered March 4, 2004) at 3.

		In this proceeding, we do not feel that the Commission has enough information to evaluate whether the civil penalty and corrective actions are sufficient to address the alleged violations.  Specifically, the complaints against ResCom allege violations of the Commission’s anti-slamming regulations.  The remedial actions outlined in the Settlement, however, all relate to marketing practices.  Therefore, we seek further information on how ResCom has revised its operating procedures so as to safeguard against future slamming incidences.

		Further, neither the Settlement nor the statements in support contain sufficiently clear information as to the total universe of potential customers that were affected by ResCom’s actions in question.[footnoteRef:8]  As such, we seek further information related to the number of customers that were affected by ResCom’s allegedly illegal marketing practices, how many customers were allegedly slammed, how many customers ResCom allegedly attempted to slam but successfully rescinded, and how many Do Not Call violations allegedly occurred. [8:  	We note that I&E references fourteen BCS complaints containing forty-nine potential regulatory violations.  I&E Statement in Support of Settlement at 3.  It is not clear, however, whether these forty-nine potential violations were instances of alleged slamming, Do Not Call violations, both, or something else.  Further, it appears from our reading of the case documents that other potential violations likely exist related to the whistleblower contact and I&E’s investigation into the third-party marketing firms that occurred independently from the BCS complaints, but neither Party quantified the potential number of those violations. ] 


		The Parties should, therefore, within thirty days of the entry date of this Opinion and Order, file supplemental statements in support providing this information as well as any other information they deem to be relevant.

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, the Parties are directed to file supplemental statements in support of the proposed Settlement at this docket, consistent with this Opinion and Order.  The supplements will be considered timely if filed within thirty days of the date of entry of this Opinion and Order; THEREFORE,

		IT IS ORDERED:

		That the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement and ResCom Energy LLC shall, within thirty (30) days of the entry of this Opinion and Order, file supplemental statements in support of the proposed Settlement Agreement, consistent with this Opinion and Order. 

[bookmark: _GoBack][image: ]							BY THE COMMISSION,


							Rosemary Chiavetta
							Secretary
(SEAL)
ORDER ADOPTED:	March 6, 2014
ORDER ENTERED:  March 19, 2014
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